A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1.  Mr. Landis was denied his constitutional right to a fair trial due 

to ineffective assistance of counsel when his attorney failed to pursue a 

defense of diminished capacity. 

2.  The trial court erred in denying Mr. Landis’ request for a jury 

instruction on voluntary intoxication. 

3.  The trial court erred in not allowing Mr. Landis to cross 

examine Detective Files about Mrs. Landis’ recorded statement to explain 

how and why her husband’s crazy behavior was due to PTSD. 

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

 1.  Was Mr. Landis denied his constitutional right to effective 

assistance of counsel, when his attorney failed to pursue a defense of 

diminished capacity? 

2.  Was Mr. Landis entitled to a voluntary intoxication jury 

instruction where the crime charged included a mental state and there was 

substantial evidence to support the giving of the instruction? 

 3.  After the prosecutor elicited handpicked portions of a recorded 

statement from Detective Files where Mrs. Landis stated her husband was 

acting crazy, did the trial court abuse its discretion in not allowing Mr. 

Landis to elicit on cross examination the remainder of Mrs. Landis’ 
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statement where she explained how and why the crazy behavior was due to 

PTSD? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 James Landis is a Vietnam veteran who served from January 1968 

until September 1969.  RP 884-86.  In October 1968, he was injured by a 

land mine and also from being shot.  At the end of his deployment he 

suffered from post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD).  RP 885-86.  When 

he returned to the United States he worked for Martin Marietta as a missile 

mechanic, then Rockwell International, and eventually the Boeing 

Company as a flight line mechanic, and later as a supervisor.  RP 886.  He 

left Boeing around 2000 due to his PTSD disability.  At the time of this 

incident he was rated 70 percent PTSD disabled by the Veterans 

Administration.  RP 888. 

 On August 7, 2010, Mr. Landis was taking two doses of time-

release morphine daily for pain from his war injuries as well as Celexa for 

depression.  On the morning of this particular day, in addition to his usual 

medications, he had gone to the tavern and consumed three beers.  He 

continued to drink beer after he returned home around noon.  RP 435-39, 

889, 899.   
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 Sometime that afternoon both Mr. Landis and his wife became 

upset with one another following an episode that started when he 

accidently tangled up a garden irrigation line in the brush hog he was using 

with his garden tractor and ran over some of his wife’s perennials.  RP 

265-267, 440, 891-97.  Mrs. Landis, who had also been drinking, tried to 

stop her husband from doing any more mowing.  Mr. Landis somehow ran 

over his wife’s ankle with the tractor during this disagreement and she 

ended up going to the hospital.  RP 270-74, 440, 447.   

Mrs. Landis told the neighbors that Mr. Landis had run over her leg 

with the tractor.  The neighbors called the sheriff about 6:30 p.m.  RP 355, 

370-71.  When the sheriff’s deputies showed up at the hospital, she gave a 

similar story.  RP 379. 440.  At trial she testified it was an accident.  RP 

318-19. 

 Mr. Landis said Mr. Landis was upset due to PTSD.  (RP 267, 786-

88)  Mrs Landis told the Sgt. Harrison she did not want them to go to the 

house because Mr. Landis had weapons and she was afraid someone might 

get hurt due to Mr. Landis’ PTSD.  RP 357, 381.  She also told the police 

Mr. Landis was a marksman and an excellent shot.  RP 358.  Sgt. Harrison 

testified Mrs. Landis told him she was worried about a potential shoot out 
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with law enforcement as a result of the effects of Mr. Landis consuming 

alcohol along with his medication combined with his PTSD.  RP 448. 

 Despite Mrs. Landis’ pleadings, Deputy Newport and Sgt. Harrison 

decided to drive to the Landis residence.  They traveled in separate cars.  

RP 385.  After they arrived at the Landis residence around dusk they 

parked out of sight on the road.  They could see lights on inside the house 

and Mr. Landis pacing back and forth.  They had the dispatcher call Mr. 

Landis on the telephone and ask him to come outside and talk to them.  RP 

385-91, 451-54.   

 Patricia Stevens, a dispatcher at the sheriff’s office, called Mr. 

Landis and asked him to come outside and talk to the sheriff deputies.  RP 

753-54.  Mr. Landis declined to do that at first.  He rambled on for some 

time that his wife has been getting in his face, that “she was living off of 

me from the day that I met her, and she has not worked a day and 

contributed ten cents to this relationship.”  RP 756-61.  He then became 

abusive, calling her a bitch, as well as his wife, and threatening to kill both 

his wife and Ms. Stevens.  RP 766-71. 

Meanwhile, Deputy Newport had gotten out of his car and climbed 

up an embankment where he could watch the house but remain out of 

sight.  RP 389-90.  Eventually, Mr. Landis came outside and stood by the 
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garage with his hands up.  Sgt. Harrison drove into the driveway, turned 

on his overhead “take-down” lights, and got out of his patrol car.  Mr. 

Landis immediately became angry and yelled at Harrison to turn off the 

lights.  Mr. Landis then walked back inside his garage.  RP 394-98.  

Seeing this turn of events, Deputy Newport told Sgt. Harrison to get out of 

the driveway and that he (Newport) was leaving.  RP 399. 

 Mr. Landis came back outside within about ten seconds with a 

rifle.  Deputy Newport was already running back to his car and Sgt. 

Harrison was backing his car out the driveway.  RP 400-01.  Mr. Landis 

began firing shots at Harrison’s patrol car.  Harrison heard glass breaking.  

He stopped his car as soon as he was out of the line of fire, turned off his 

car and lights, got out and crawled up the embankment to a position where 

he could see the house.  RP 457-60.  Deputy Newport radioed dispatch to 

send more officers.  RP 406.  By now, it was completely dark outside.  RP 

408. 

From where he was hiding in the field, Harrison could hear Mr. 

Landis yelling and crying.  Mr. Landis was saying his wife’s name and 

yelling, “Come take me out.”  A few minutes later Mr. Landis came 

walking straight from the house holding a rifle and muttering to himself.  

RP 464-66.  Mr. Landis passed within 30-60 feet of where Harrison was 
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hiding.  Mr. Landis walked to the top of the embankment and started 

shooting at Harrison’s empty patrol car.  RP 467.  The numerous shots 

fired into the empty patrol car caused the headlights or wig-wag lights to 

start flashing on and off and the horn to start honking.  RP 469. 

 Mr. Landis went back inside the house and turned off the lights.  

470-74.  After a period of quiet, Harrison heard sirens approaching and 

then footsteps quite close to his position.  Harrison decided to shoot Mr. 

Landis.  He shot Mr. Landis in the hip and ordered Mr. Landis to put his 

arms out away from his body.  Mr. Landis complied and was handcuffed 

by Harrison.  RP 475-78.  Deputy Newport and other officers arrived a few 

minutes later.  RP 411. 

Deputy Newport testified that after Mr. Landis was shot he was 

delusional and not making sense.  Newport thought he was possibly under 

the influence of drugs.  RP 424-25.  Mr. Landis was taken away in an 

ambulance.  RP 414. 

 In preparation for trial, Mr. Landis’ lawyer had begun laying the 

groundwork for presenting a diminished capacity defense.  He had asked 

for and received several continuances to contact an expert witness to set up 

such a defense.  RP 82.  At some point Mr. Landis retained a different 

lawyer, Stephen Graham.  Mr. Graham abandoned this diminished 
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capacity defense in favor of a “suicide by cop” defense.  RP 80-82.  In 

support of this defense Graham proposed calling Professor Gilbertson as a 

witness to testify as an expert on the theory of "suicide by cop."  CP 106. 

 The State filed a motion in limine to exclude such expert testimony 

arguing that the theory of "suicide by cop" does not meet the Frye standard 

and that Professor Gilbertson does not qualify as an expert.  CP 96-105.  

The Court agreed and excluded the testimony of Professor Gilbertson.  RP 

86-92.  The Court noted that Professor Gilbertson had never met Mr. 

Landis and therefore knows nothing about Mr. Landis’ frame of mind.  RP 

90-92.  Moreover, the trial court observed, as Professor Gilbertson had 

noted, that a defense of “suicide by cop” even if successful does not negate 

a person’s intent to kill law enforcement, even when the person wishes to 

be killed in the confrontation.  RP 91. 

During the trial Mrs. Landis testified on direct examination that her 

husband’s crazy behavior resulting in her being injured was due to his 

PTSD.  RP 267.  Following her testimony the State moved to prohibit the 

defense from inquiring further about Mrs. Landis’ PTSD.  RP 307.  The 

Court granted the motion and did not allow Mr. Landis to cross 

examination Mrs. Landis about her husband’s PTSD.  RP 312-14. 
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Later the State elicited testimony from Detective Files on direct 

examination about portions of a recorded statement where Mrs. Landis 

stated her husband was “a crazy guy” during the garden tractor incident.  

RP 781.  During cross-examination the State objected to any further 

inquiry about the remainder of Mrs. Landis’ statement where she 

explained how and why the crazy behavior was due to PTSD.  The trial 

court sustained the objection.  RP 789-91.   

Despite these attempts to bring in evidence of PTSD, defense 

counsel continually objected to evidence of Mr. Landis being under the 

influence of drugs and alcohol.  RP 435-39. 

The Court denied the defense request for a jury instruction on 

voluntary intoxication.  The Court said it would not be fair to offer the 

instruction now, since the state would have the burden of proving the 

absence of the defense and the evidence was now closed.  The Court also 

said voluntary intoxication was not Mr. Landis’ defense, and there was no 

mention or evidence of intoxication affecting Mr. Landis’ mental state.  

RP 1009-1011, 1019-20.  Mr. Landis objected and took exception to not 

giving the instruction.  RP 1026. 
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 Mrs. Landis was convicted of attempted first degree murder, 

second degree assault, and harassment.  RP 1152.  This appeal followed.  

CP 1-2. 

D. ARGUMENT 

1.  Mr. Landis was denied his constitutional right to effective 

assistance of counsel, when his attorney failed to pursue a defense of 

diminished capacity. 

Effective assistance of counsel is guaranteed by both U.S. Const. 

amend. VI and Wash. Const. art. I, § 22 (amend. x).  Strickland v. 

Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2063-64, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 

(1984); State v. Mierz, 127 Wn.2d 460, 471, 901 P.2d 286 (1995).  In 

Strickland, the Court established a two-part test for ineffective assistance 

of counsel.  First, the defendant must show deficient performance.  In this 

assessment, the appellate court will presume the defendant was properly 

represented.  State v. Lord, 117 Wn.2d 829, 883, 822 P.2d 177 (1991), 

cert. denied, 506 U.S. 856, 113 S.Ct. 164, 121 L.Ed.2d 112 (1992).  

Deficient performance is not shown by matters that go to trial 

strategy or tactics.  State v. Garrett, 124 Wn.2d 504, 520, 881 P.2d 185 

(1994).  However, the presumption that defense counsel performed 

adequately is overcome when there is no conceivable legitimate tactic 
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explaining counsel’s performance.  State v. Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d 126, 

130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004).  Furthermore, there must be some indication in 

the record that counsel was actually pursuing the alleged strategy.  See, 

e.g., State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d 61, 78-79, 917 P.2d 563 (1996) (the 

state’s argument that counsel “made a tactical decision by not objecting to 

the introduction of evidence of... prior convictions has no support in the 

record.”). 

Second, the defendant must show prejudice--"that counsel's errors 

were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose 

result is reliable."  Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2064.  This 

showing is made when there is a reasonable probability that, but for 

counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different.  State v. 

Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 226, 743 P.2d 816 (1987).  A reasonable 

probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the 

outcome.  State v. Tilton, 149 Wn.2d 775, 784, 72 P.3d 735 (2003), citing 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694, 104 S.Ct. 2052.   

The defendant, however, "need not show that counsel's deficient 

conduct more likely than not altered the outcome in the case."  Id., citing 

Strickland, 466 U.S. at 693, 104 S.Ct. 2052.  Courts look to the facts of the 
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individual case to see if the Strickland test has been met.  State v. 

Cienfuegos, 144 Wn.2d 222, 228-29, 25 P.3d 1011 (2001). 

Appellate review on this issue is de novo.  State v. White, 80 Wn. 

App. 406, 410, 907 P.2d 310 (1995). 

The failure of defense counsel to present a diminished capacity 

defense where the facts support such a defense has been held to satisfy 

both prongs of the Strickland test.  Tilton, 149 Wash. 2d at 784, 72 P.3d 

735 (citing Thomas, 109 Wash. 2d at 226-29, 743 P.2d 816).  A 

diminished capacity defense requires evidence of a mental condition, 

which prevents the defendant from forming the requisite intent necessary 

to commit the crime charged.  State v. Warden, 133 Wn.2d 559, 564, 947 

P.2d 708 (1997).  An intoxication defense allows consideration of the 

effect of voluntary intoxication by alcohol or drugs on the defendant's 

ability to form the requisite mental state.  State v. Coates, 107 Wn.2d 882, 

889, 735 P.2d 64 (1987). 

Here, there was sufficient evidence of diminished capacity by 

PTSD and voluntary intoxication for the jury to find that it prevented Mr. 

Landis from forming the requisite intent necessary to commit the crime 

charged.  Attempted first degree murder requires “premeditated intent.” 

RCW 9A.32.030(1)(a).  The State bears the burden of proving beyond a 
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reasonable doubt that the defendant had this requisite mental state.  State 

v. Bottrell, 103 Wash. App. 706, 712, 14 P.3d 164, (2000) (citing State v. 

James, 47 Wn. App. 605, 609, 736 P.2d 700 (1987).  When specific intent 

or knowledge is an element of the crime, a defendant is entitled to present 

evidence showing an inability to form the specific intent or knowledge at 

the time of the crime.  Id. (citing State v. Edmon, 28 Wn. App. 98, 102-04, 

621 P.2d 1310, review denied, 95 Wn.2d 1019 (1981); State v. Martin 14 

Wn. App. 74, 75, 538 P.2d 873 (1975), review denied, 86 Wn.2d 1009 

(1976)). 

The essence of PTSD. 

According to the American Psychiatric Association: 

The essential feature of Posttraumatic Stress Disorder is the 

development of characteristic symptoms following exposure to an 

extreme traumatic stressor involving direct personal experience of 

an event that involves actual or threatened death or serious injury, 

or other threat to one's physical integrity; or witnessing an event 

that involves death, injury, or a threat to the physical integrity of 

another person; or learning about unexpected or violent death, 

serious harm, or threat of death or injury experienced by a family 

member or other close associate. 

 

American Psychiatric Association, diagnostic and Statistical Manual of 

Mental Disorders, 424 (4th ed.1994). 

One hallmark of PTSD is flashback, a condition “during which 

components of the [traumatic] event are relived and the person behaves as 
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though experiencing the event at that moment.  Bottrell, 103 Wash. App. 

706, 714, 14 P.3d 164 (citing American Psychiatric Association, 

diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 424 (4th ed.1994)).  

When a person has a flashback, he or she undergoes an “alteration in the 

perception or experience of the self in which the usual sense of one's own 

reality is temporarily lost or changed.”  Bottrell, 103 Wash. App. 706, 715, 

14 P.3d 164 (citing American Psychiatric Association, diagnostic and 

Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 275 (3rd ed. revised 1987)).  

While in this state, the person experiences “[v]arious types of sensory 

anesthesia and a sensation of not being in complete control of one's 

actions, including speech.”  Id. (citing American Psychiatric Association, 

diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 275 (3rd ed. 

revised 1987)).  So, a person who truly suffers from PTSD could 

experience a flashback and during that flashback might be unable to 

control his or her actions.  Id.  As one commentator stated: 

Ordinarily, persons with PTSD are in contact with reality and do 

not display any symptoms of psychosis such as hallucinations or 

delusions. PTSD is essentially an anxiety disorder.  However, some 

patients, especially those who are subsequently subjected to 

extreme stress, develop a transient dissociative reaction with 

episodes of depersonalization or derealization.  Most of the time, 

these feelings of unreality pass without incident, but occasionally 

criminal behavior may erupt.  The question of criminal 

responsibility, therefore, is pertinent since a person's cognitive or 

volitional state may be impaired during a dissociative reaction. 
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Chester B. Scrignar, M.D., post-Traumatic Stress Disorder: Diagnosis, 

Treatment, and Legal Issues, 245 (2d ed.1988). 

Washington case law acknowledges that PTSD is recognized 

within the scientific and psychiatric communities and can affect the intent 

of the actor resulting in diminished capacity.  Id. (citing State v. Janes, 121 

Wn.2d 220, 233-36, 850 P.2d 495 (1993) (battered woman and battered 

child syndromes are a subset of PTSD and are admissible to show how 

severe abuse affects the battered person's perceptions and reactions)); see 

also, State v. Riker, 123 Wn.2d 351, 869 P.2d 43 (1994).  Other cases that 

acknowledge the link and the defense are: Warden, 133 Wn.2d at 564, 947 

P.2d 708; State v. Hamlet, 133 Wn.2d 314, 944 P.2d 1026 (1997). 

Here, it was made clear at trial that Mr. Landis suffered from 

PTSD, despite erroneous rulings by the trial court trying to keep such 

evidence out (discussed infra).  Mr. Landis testified he left Boeing around 

2000 due to his PTSD disability and that he was rated 70 percent PTSD 

disabled by the Veterans Administration.  RP 888.  Mrs. Landis told the 

police Mr. Landis suffered from PTSD when she was interviewed in the 

hospital following the tractor incident.  RP 786-88.  She also mentioned it 

in her testimony.  RP 267.   
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Likewise, there is ample evidence of diminished capacity due to 

the combination of the PTSD, the medications and the alcohol consumed 

that day.  The testimony revealed Mr. Landis was taking two doses of 

time-release morphine daily for pain from his war injuries as well as 

Celexa for depression.  On the morning of this incident he had gone to the 

tavern and consumed three beers and continued to drink beer after he 

returned home around noon.  RP 435-39, 889, 899.  Sgt. Harrison testified 

Mrs. Landis told him she was worried about a potential shoot out with law 

enforcement as a result of the effects of Mr. Landis consuming alcohol 

along with his medication combined with his PTSD.  RP 448. 

The actual behavior exhibited by Mr. Landis that day further 

substantiates this defense and is consistent with the various symptoms of 

PTSD discussed above.  Mr. Landis is not a career criminal.  He is an 

honorable war veteran with an impressive employment history.  He 

worked for Martin Marietta as a missile mechanic, then Rockwell 

International, and eventually the Boeing Company as a flight line 

mechanic, and later as a supervisor.  RP 886.  His behavior on the date of 

this incident was entirely inconsistent with such a notable background 

absent some intervening mental condition. 
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Starting with the tractor episode and the way events escalated 

thereafter, it was evident that Mr. Landis’ behavior was abnormal.  This 

was first demonstrated by the confrontation with his wife over a seemingly 

trivial matter, his exaggerated reaction, her resulting injury and his 

apparent refusal to help her (see RP 354-57, 783).  Mr. Landis later 

became further upset when the sheriff deputies arrived at the house and 

Sgt. Harrison turned on his “take-down” lights.  Mr. Landis immediately 

became angry and yelled at Harrison to turn off the lights.  Mr. Landis then 

went into his garage and came back outside in about ten seconds with a 

rifle.  This type of extreme overreaction could only be categorized as 

abnormal and the result of some mental condition. 

Mr. Landis also behaved strangely when the dispatcher, Patricia 

Stevens, called Mr. Landis and asked him to come outside and talk to the 

sheriff deputies.  Mr. Landis declined to do that at first.  He rambled on for 

some time that his wife has been getting in his face, that “she was living 

off of me from the day that I met her, and she has not worked a day and 

contributed ten cents to this relationship.”  RP 756-61.  He then became 

abusive, calling her a bitch, as well as his wife, and threatening to kill both 

his wife and Ms. Stevens.  RP 766-71. 
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Mr. Landis exhibited even more extreme abnormal behavior when

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