FILED
Jan 30, 2014
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

NO. 31274-7
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION III

JAMES J. LANDIS
APPELLANT,
V.
STATE OF WASHINGTON
RESPONDENT

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

KARL F. SLOAN
237 4th Avenue N.
P.O. Box 1130
Okanogan County, Washington

509-422-7280 Phone
509-422-7290 Fax

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

In the present case, the Appellant has failed to demonstrate that counsel's representation was deficient in any way. Appellant argues that trial counsel was ineffective for not pursuing a diminished capacity defense, even though the facts and testimony did not support the defense.

Diminished capacity is a mental condition not amounting to insanity which prevents the defendant from possessing the requisite mental state necessary to commit the crime charged. *State v. Furman*, 122 Wn.2d 440, 454, 858 P.2d 1092 (1993).

To obtain a diminished capacity instruction the defendant must satisfy the following three requirements: (1) the crime charged must include a particular mental state as an element; (2) the defendant must present evidence of a mental disorder; and (3) expert testimony must logically and reasonably connect the defendant's alleged mental condition with the asserted inability to form the mental state required for the crime charged. *State v. Atsbeha*, 142 Wn.2d 904, 914, 921, 16 P.3d 626 (2001); *State v. Eakins*, 127 Wn.2d 490, 502, 902 P.2d 1236 (1995); *State v. Griffin*, 100 Wn.2d 417, 418, 670 P.2d 265 (1983); *State v. Guilliot*, 106

Wn. App. 355, 363, 22 P.3d 1266 (2001). If evidence on any element is lacking, the instruction should not be given. *State v. Ager*, 128 Wn.2d 85, 95, 904 P.2d 715 (1995). Moreover, even where a defendant is entitled to a diminished capacity instruction, the failure to request the instruction is not ineffective assistance of counsel per se. *State v. Cienfuegos*, 144 Wn.2d 222, 229, 25 P.3d 1011, 1015 (2001).

In the present case there was no evidence beyond the defendant's and his wife's assertion that the defendant had been diagnosed with PTSD, or suffered from PTSD at the time of the incident. In the entire two years the case was pending, the defendant failed to come forward with records, documents, or evidence to support the assertion. Despite numerous continuances of the case, no expert was ever identified who could testify about the defendant's alleged PTSD; or that if he did have PTSD that condition was logically and reasonably connected the defendant's inability to form the required mental state on the date in question. The defendant failed to meet elements 2 and 3 and was therefore not entitled to a diminished capacity instruction.

Additionally, the evidence in the case did not support diminished capacity. There was no evidence to support that any

mental condition prevented the defendant from possessing the requisite mental state (intent) necessary to commit the crimes of Assault or Attempted Murder. The evidence in the case, the defendant's statements, his actions, and his testimony all demonstrated the defendant's ability to form intent.

Regarding the Assault in the Second Degree Domestic Violence offense, the defendant claimed it was an accident. Regarding the Attempted Murder offense, the defendant claimed he *intended* to shoot at the police officer and the vehicle in order to engage the officers and force a response. However, he claimed his intent was only to scare them, not kill them. Based on the evidence facing the defendant, a decision was made to present this strategy, rather than the contradictory claim that the defendant lacked the ability to form intent due to a mental condition or intoxication. This decision was not ineffective on the part of trial counsel given the facts available to him.

Similarly there is no basis to support a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel for not arguing a voluntary intoxication defense.

In *Woo Won Choi*, 55 Wn. App. at 905-06, the Court found: that there was evidence of some drinking, to suggest at trial that the

defendant was so out of control that he did not know what he was doing could certainly be considered ill-advised. However, the Court found this theory would have been incompatible with the defendant's very explicit and detailed recollection of the events. Moreover, the defendant explained with specificity what his intent was. The Court found this clearly belied the defendant's claim that he was too drunk to form any intent, and the two defense theories appeared to be mutually exclusive from a trial strategy point of view. Thus, the Court held the failure to raise an intoxication defense could not support a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. *Woo Won Choi*, 55 Wn. App. at 905-06

In *State v. Byrd*, 30 Wn. App. 794, 798-99, 638 P.2d 601, 604 (1981), the defendant argued that trial counsel owed him the duty of arguing that he was intoxicated and unable to form the necessary intent to act as an accomplice. The Court found that although there is evidence of considerable drinking, there was none that the defendant was out of control of himself at any time. The defendant's detailed recital of the events at trial presented a factual defense of consent but not of intoxication. The Court found the two defenses could well be mutually exclusive from a trial strategy view point in which event trial counsel would be faulted if he had chosen

the defense of intoxication rather than that of consent. *Byrd*, 30 Wn. App. at 798-99

Unlike *Woo Won Choi*, and *Byrd*, there was not evidence of considerable drinking in this case, or evidence of any significant degree of intoxication. But like *Woo Won Choi*, and *Byrd*, the defendant presented a very explicit and detailed recollection of the events, and explained with specificity what his intent actually was. The two defense theories in this case would have been mutually exclusive, and likely further diminished the defendant's credibility with the jury.

The fact that the trial attorney chose not to argue an unsupported and contradictory theory does not equal ineffective assistance. The defense attorney instead chose to argue most strongly against the most serious charge of Attempted First Degree Murder, by arguing the defendant may have committed a lesser crime of assault by shooting toward the officer, but did not commit Attempted Murder. This theory was most consistent with the evidence presented at trial, the defendant's actions, and his own statements.

In seeking to argue ineffective assistance of counsel, Appellant makes arguments that are wildly speculative; including

that the defendant's behavior on August 7 was "...*entirely inconsistent with such a notable background without some intervening mental condition.*" , and that the defendant's "...*extreme overreaction could only be categorized as abnormal and the result of some mental condition.*" See *Appellant's Brief*, pg. 20, 21.

What Appellant fails to recognize, is that in addition to the defendant's deliberate and calculated actions, the defendant's trial attorney was also faced with the task of preventing the admission of prior acts that the State sought to introduce. The prior acts the State sought to introduce involved prior domestic conflicts with Ms. Landis, and the defendant's assaultive behavior and threats toward a female motorist and the responding police officer.

To try and argue this case meets the *Strickland* test, Appellant engages in pure conjecture that there was an expert who *would* testify not only about the defendant having PTSD, but that this PTSD combined with alcohol and prescription drugs caused "flashbacks", and that these "flashbacks" impaired the defendant's ability to form intent. Going further, Appellant argues that if this hypothetical expert were found, and then testified, the jury would have *agreed* with this hypothetical expert, and therefore created a

reasonable probability, but for counsel's errors, the result of the trial would have been different. *See Appellant's Brief*, pg. 24.¹

In effect, Appellant now seeks to act as his own expert by arguing "evidence" and making claims about PTSD and diminished capacity that were never part of the case. The specious conclusion that the Appellant's criminal behavior could *only* be due to an unproven mental condition, and therefore trial counsel was ineffective for not asserting it - does not stand up to the actual facts of the case. This speculation and conjecture does not support a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel.

In this case, the defendant was angry with his wife after having argued with her all day. He knocked her down, ran over her leg with the tractor, and then threatened to kill her. He was aware his actions could result in criminal charges, and in the intervening hours between the assault and the arrival of law enforcement, he placed several loaded firearms at the ready near the garage door, awaiting law enforcement's arrival. Although the defendant

¹ Additionally, if the defendant had sought to raise diminished capacity, through the retention of his own expert, and thereby placed his mental state at issue, he would have had to submit to an examination by the State's expert. *State v. Hutchinson*, 135 Wn.2d 863, 878, 959 P.2d 1061, 1069 (1998). It is possible that both of the defendant's trial attorneys did not believe a viable diminished capacity claim would follow from the examination of either a defense or State mental health expert.

admitted to drinking, at no time did he indicate he was impaired or that his marksmanship was affected.

There is *no* reasonable probability that, but for counsel's decision not to put forth the unsupported assertion that the defendant was incapable of forming intent, the result of the trial would have been different. The Appellant has failed to demonstrate that counsel's performance was not based on legitimate strategy or that any allegedly deficient performance prejudiced the Appellant. Because the Appellant cannot demonstrate that counsel's actions were not based on legitimate trial strategy, or that any alleged error affected the outcome of the trial, this court should affirm the Appellant's convictions.

2. A voluntary intoxication instruction was mutually exclusive of the defendant's asserted defense and not supported by the defendant's own statements regarding consumption of intoxicants and his lack of impairment.

WPIC 18.10 states:

No act committed by a person while in a state of voluntary intoxication is less criminal by reason of that condition. However, evidence of intoxication may be considered in determining whether the defendant acted or failed to act with the requisite mental state.

11 Wash. Prac., *Pattern Jury Instr. Crim. WPIC 18.10* (3d Ed). The general rules governing jury instructions are well settled. Jury instructions are sufficient if they correctly state the law, are not misleading, and allow the parties to argue their respective theories of the case. *E.g., State v. Walters*, 162 Wn. App. 74, 82, 255 P.3d 835, 839 (2011).

In a technical sense intoxication is not a “true defense,” because a criminal act committed by a person who is voluntarily intoxicated is not justified or excused. Rather, intoxication may raise a reasonable doubt as to a mental state required for conviction of a certain crime. A criminal defendant is entitled to a voluntary intoxication instruction *only* if: (1) the crime charged has as an element a particular mental state, (2) there is substantial evidence of drinking, and (3) the defendant presents evidence that the drinking affected his or her ability to acquire the required mental state.” *State v. Gallegos*, 65 Wn. App. 230, 238, 828 P.2d 37 (1992)(cited in *Ager*, 128 Wn.2d 85).

For the second element there must be a showing of drug or alcohol consumption and the effect of the consumption on the drinker. *See, e.g., State v. Dana*, 73 Wn.2d 533, 535, 439 P.2d 403

(1968); *State v. Zamora*, 6 Wash.App. 130, 132, 491 P.2d 1342 (1971), *review denied*, 80 Wash.2d 1006 (1972)

The evidence “must reasonably and logically connect the defendant's intoxication with the asserted inability to form the required level of culpability to commit the crime charged. ... Evidence of drinking alone is insufficient to warrant the instruction; instead, there must be ‘substantial evidence of the effects of the alcohol on the defendant's mind or body.’” *State v. Gabryschak*, 83 Wn. App. 249, 252, 921 P.2d 549 (1996)(intoxicated and angry man not entitled to instruction where no sign of alcohol's impact on reasoning abilities). *See also State v. Everybodytalksabout*, 145 Wn.2d 456, 479, 39 P.3d 294 (2002)(defendant not entitled to a voluntary intoxication instruction where he did not present sufficient evidence to show his intoxication affected his ability to acquire the required mental state); *State v. Harris*, 122 Wn. App. 547, 552, 90 P.3d 1133 (2004)(same); *State v. Hall*, 104 Wn. App. 56, 60, 14 P.3d 884 (2000)(same); *State v. Priest*, 100 Wn. App. 451, 455, 997 P.2d 452 (2000)(same).

The State has no burden of disproving intoxication, and the jury should not be instructed that it does. *State v. Coates*, 107 Wn.2d 882, 735 P.2d 64 (1987). It is sufficient to instruct the jury

that the State must prove the mental state that is an element of the crime charged. *State v. James*, 47 Wn. App. 605, 736 P.2d 700 (1987); *State v. Sam*, 42 Wn. App. 586, 711 P.2d 1114 (1986); *State v. Fuller*, 42 Wn.App. 53, 708 P.2d 413 (1985).

Here the defendant was not entitled to a voluntary intoxication instruction. He did not present “substantial” evidence of drinking or sufficient evidence to show his consumption of intoxications affected his ability to acquire the required mental state. On the contrary, the defendant testified he did not drink much and that his shooting skills were not affected in any way by the intoxicants he had consumed. The Court did not commit error in refusing to give the defendant’s proposed instruction on voluntary intoxication.

Even if such an instruction had been supported, such a non-constitutional error is harmless if it did not, within reasonable probability, materially affect the verdict. *E.g., Walters*, 162 Wn. App. at 84 (the failure to give the intoxication instruction was harmless where defendant’s threat to kick the officer before he did so showed the intoxicated defendant was acting intentionally).

3. The Trial Court did not commit error by limiting admission of statements made by Ms. Landis about other unrelated incidents offered to introduce improper character evidence under the guise of ER 106.

Appellant claims the trial court committed error by not allow cross examination of an impeachment witness (Det. Files) to elicit statements of Ms. Landis describing why his behavior in running her over with the tractor was due to PTSD. Brief of Appellant, pg. 29. For support the Appellant cites to ER 106- Remainder of or Related Writings or Recorded Statements.

The problem is that at trial Defense was not seeking to admit statements elaborating on or explaining Ms. Landis' reference to the defendant's behavior at the time of the assault with the tractor; but was seeking to introduce statements by Ms. Landis about prior unrelated incidents where the defendant did not act in conformity with his behavior at the time of the assault. RPT 789-790. Additionally, both Ms. Landis and the defendant claimed in their testimony the assault with the tractor was an accident, and not an intentional act.

Under the rule of completeness, if a party introduces a statement, an adverse party may require the party to introduce any

other part “which ought in fairness to be considered contemporaneously with it.” ER 106; *State v. Simms*, 151 Wn. App. 677, 692, 214 P.3d 919, 927 (2009) *aff’d*, 171 Wn.2d 244, 250 P.3d 107 (2011)(citing *State v. Larry*, 108 Wn. App. 894, 910, 34 P.3d 241 (2001). However, the trial judge need *only* admit the remaining portions of the statement which are needed to clarify or explain the portion already received. *Simms*, 151 Wn. App. at 692(emphasis added). *See also State v. Hawkins*, 53 Wn. App. 598, 602-03, 769 P.2d 856, 858 (1989)(trial court did not abuse its discretion by admitting an edited version of the tape recording, where there was no showing the other portions were relevant).

In the present case Defensed did not explain how the admission of statements about other un-related incidents explained the statement in question.

A trial court's evidentiary rulings are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. E.g., *State v. Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). The trial court has discretion to determine the scope of cross-examination. *State v. McDaniel*, 83 Wn. App. 179, 184-185, 920 P.2d 1218 (1996). A trial court's rulings on the scope of cross-examination will not be reversed absent a manifest abuse of

discretion—when its decision is manifestly unreasonable, or is exercised on untenable grounds or for untenable reasons.

McDaniel, 83 Wn. App. at 185.

In this case, if the Court had permitted admission of other alleged non-conforming incidents of behavior, the Court indicated it may have permitted the State to admit evidence of the defendant's previous threatening and assaultive behavior toward law enforcement.

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